RECEIVED

10-13-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2015AP000959-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JACK M. SURIANO,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Door County, The Honorable D. Todd Ehlers Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUE PRESENTED

The trial court ruled that Mr. Suriano forfeited his right to counsel after three appointed attorneys withdrew from his case, despite his protestations and repeated requests for counsel, and without first warning him of the risk of losing the right to counsel or advising him of the difficulties and dangers of self-representation.

Did the trial court violate Mr. Suriano's Sixth Amendment right to counsel?

The Trial court ruled that Mr. Suriano forfeited his right to counsel.

The court of appeals affirmed.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for cases decided by this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State filed a single-count criminal complaint charging Mr. Suriano with obstructing an officer, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1). The charge arose after Mr. Suriano allegedly interfered with the efforts of the Door County Sanitation Department, and accompanying sheriff's deputies, to take a soil sample from the property where he resided.

Attorney Grant Erickson accepted a State Public Defender (SPD) appointment to represent Mr. Suriano.

(8; App. 101). Attorney Erickson appeared with Mr. Suriano at the December 16, 2013, initial appearance. A \$500 signature bond was set. Subsequently, Attorney Erickson moved to withdraw as counsel. (13; App. 102). He averred that, "the grounds for this motion are that the defendant and Attorney Grant. A. Erickson have differing opinions and objectives for the handling and resolution of this case." (*Id.*). On the same date, Attorney Erickson also filed a motion to suppress evidence. (14).

The Door County Circuit Court, the Honorable D. Todd Ehlers presiding, held a hearing on the withdrawal motion on January 9, 2014. (70). At the hearing, Mr. Suriano asked the court for permission to question Attorney Erickson about why he was withdrawing. The court agreed. (70:3; App. 104).

Attorney Erickson responded that he believed that he and Mr. Suriano did not have the same objectives as him for the case. (70:5-6; App. 106-07). Mr. Suriano asked Attorney Erickson what he believed that Mr. Suriano's objective was, and Attorney Erickson replied that Mr. Suriano's objectives were to prove his innocence, explore every legal or even nonlegal aspect of the case, and to be an "ass" and make it difficult or frustrating for the legal system. (70:5-6; App. 106-07). Ultimately, Mr. Suriano agreed to a new attorney, and the court granted the motion to withdraw. (70:7; App. 108). A written order was entered accordingly. (15; App. 109).

Attorney Linda Schaefer was also present in the courtroom and advised that she had agreed to accept an SPD appointment as successor counsel. (70:8-9; 16; App. 110). The court kept the previously scheduled trial date of March 4, 2014. (70:9).

Mr. Suriano asked about calendaring a date for the suppression motion that Attorney Erickson filed. (70:10). The court stated that it would not be proper to schedule a hearing yet because Attorney Schaefer had just been appointed, but assured Mr. Suriano that "absolutely. We're going to schedule it on." (70:11).

Before the next scheduled appearance, on February 3, 2014, Attorney Schaefer filed a motion to withdraw as counsel. (19, 20; App. 111-14). She stated that "a significant conflict has developed between Mr. Suriano and myself with respect to the appropriate course of action going forward in this case." (20:1; App. 113). Attorney Schaefer also filed a request to adjourn the March 4, 2014, trial date due to a conflict in her calendar. (18).

At the February 17, 2014, pretrial conference, Attorney Schaefer did not elaborate further on her motion to withdraw, and Mr. Suriano did not comment on it. (71:2; App. 116). The court granted the motion, and asked Mr. Suriano "where are we at in terms of you getting a different attorney?" Mr. Suriano responded that he was not sure, but had asked Attorney Schaefer. (71:3; App. 117).

Attorney Schaefer explained that she had spoken with the SPD, and they would appoint another attorney once the court signed the withdrawal order. (*Id.*). The court advised Mr. Suriano to call the public defender's office and noted that, "you will now be on your third attorney appointed with the public defender's office. I think they have a three strike rule. Talk to them about that." (71:5-6).

Mr. Suriano again asked about his suppression motion. The court advised Mr. Suriano to ask his attorney about the

¹ A written order was entered accordingly. (21; App. 118).

motion "first thing" so they could schedule it. (71:11). The March 4, 2014, trial date was removed. (71:10).

Attorney Raj Singh agreed to accept an SPD appointment as successor counsel. (22; App. 119). At his first appearance, an April 7, 2014, status conference, Attorney Singh informed the court of discord in his relationship with Mr. Suriano. (72:4). He stated that he was not sure that Mr. Suriano wanted him as an attorney, or any attorney at all. (72:5-6).

The court again stated its belief that the SPD had a three attorney rule and "I believe Mr. Suriano's getting close to their three and out rule," and asked Singh if he was aware of that rule. (72:6-7). Attorney Singh said that he had "grave doubts" that the SPD would attempt to find a fourth attorney. (72:7).

Mr. Suriano acknowledged that he was not satisfied with Attorney Singh's "implications," but stressed that Attorney Singh should not count as a "strike" against him, because they had just met. "Similarly, Miss Schaefer, Linda, I think, came in here and withdrew as her first act, and even [Attorney] Grant [Erickson]." (72:8).

Mr. Suriano then asked the court about a court-appointed attorney. (72:9) The court responded that Mr. Suriano could apply for court-appointed counsel, but it would first need to hear from the SPD that Mr. Suriano was not eligible for public defender representation. (72:9-11). ²

² After a defendant has been found ineligible for the SPD, the court may use its inherent power to appoint counsel. *State v. Kennedy*, 2008 WI App 186, ¶¶9, 10, 315 Wis. 2d 507, 762 N.W.2d 412. But the authority is not constrained by public defender eligibility. A "court has the authority to appoint counsel whenever in the exercise of its discretion

The court asked Mr. Suriano if he wanted to "get rid of" Attorney Singh. Mr. Suriano responded that he did not believe Singh's representation was beneficial so far but, "I hesitate to go around firing people, especially because there might be consequences. It wasn't my idea." (72:12). Attorney Singh agreed there was no legal basis to withdraw at that time. (*Id.*).

However, Attorney Singh proceeded to outline his disputes with Mr. Suriano to the court. Mr. Suriano wanted to correspond by email but Attorney Singh refused. (72:13). Attorney Singh complained that Mr. Suriano refused to give him a phone number, but acknowledged that Mr. Suriano told him he could not afford to maintain a phone line. (*Id.*) Attorney Singh gave Mr. Suriano times when he could meet at the Green Bay Courthouse, but Mr. Suriano could not afford to travel there either. (72:13). Attorney Singh gave "examples" of the content of their conversations, revealing that Mr. Suriano asked him to conduct depositions. (72:14). Attorney Singh indicated that he did not believe the suppression motion had merit. (72:15). The court advised that it would not calendar a hearing on the suppression motion, based on Attorney Singh's indication. (72:18).

As the court was concluding the hearing, Attorney Singh again spoke up and asked the court to force Mr. Suriano to make a decision about whether he wanted Attorney Singh to represent him. (72:19). Mr. Suriano did not say yes or no. The court told Attorney Singh that because Mr. Suriano did not say he did not want Attorney Singh as his attorney, "you are his . . . counsel at this point." (72:20-21).

it seems such action necessary." *State v. Lehman*, 137 Wis. 2d 65, 76, 403 N.W.2d 438 (1987).

-5-

-

Approximately one month later, Attorney Singh filed a motion to withdraw, captioned "defendant's motion for an order of attorney's withdrawal." (25; App. 120).

The motion was addressed at a hearing held on May 14, 2014. (73). Mr. Suriano was upset that the motion was captioned "defendant's motion," because he had not asked Attorney Singh to withdraw. (73:8). Attorney Singh explained that Mr. Suriano had written a letter to the SPD criticizing his representation, which stated he needed a "real" lawyer. (73:3-4). Attorney Singh also read aloud an email Mr. Suriano sent him, criticizing him. (73:4-5). Attorney Singh complained that Mr. Suriano wanted to micromanage him. (73:4). He also said he would not meet with Mr. Suriano anywhere that didn't have a metal detector because of Mr. Suriano's hostility and anger. (73:12). Attorney Singh stated that Mr. Suriano was "totally rejecting" his representation. (73:11).

In response, Mr. Suriano expressed his concern that Attorney Singh was refusing to investigate witnesses and to litigate the suppression motion, and had given him inconsistent information. (73:8-9). He asked if it was typical for an attorney to talk about client correspondences and "bash" his client. (73:8). He stated he would not oppose a new motion to withdraw as long as it was not captioned the "defendant's" motion. (73:8). Mr. Suriano emphasized that he was not firing Attorney Singh. (73:10-11, 21). "This is his idea" to withdraw. (73:21).

The court asked the State if it wanted to weigh in. The State argued that if the court granted the motion to withdraw, that the court should also find that Mr. Suriano "forfeited his right to public representation and that he either goes alone or goes out and hires his own lawyer." (73:1-22; App. 122-23).

The court granted the motion to withdraw, finding that the attorney-client relationship was "irretrievably broken." (73:22; App. 123). A written order was entered accordingly. (29; App. 133).

The court then invited Mr. Suriano to comment on the State's argument on forfeiture. Mr. Suriano opposed the motion stating, "that would be a real prejudice against me that because the attorneys decide to withdraw should not make my life harder or difficult or have me forego representation. I need to have an attorney represent me" (73:23; App. 124).

Mr. Suriano also argued that it was unfair that the State had not given him notice of its forfeiture motion and asked to "table" it. (73:25; App. 126).³

The court proceeded to ask Mr. Suriano about his education. (*Id.*). Mr. Suriano replied that he had completed college and some graduate school. (73:25-26; App. 126-27).

The court then found:

You forfeited, as far as I'm concerned, your right to have legal representation. That means, Mr. Suriano, if you want to go out and hire an attorney or you want to contact the state public defender's office and see if they will appoint another attorney for you, that is absolutely your right, sir. When I'm saying you forfeited your right to have an attorney, that doesn't mean you can't get an attorney, but I'm finding your actions have made it clear that you will not cooperate with any attorney.

³ See King v. Superior Court, 132 Cal. Rptr. 2d 585, 589 (2003) (forfeiture of counsel can occur only after a hearing at which defendant is afforded full due process protections, including the assistance of counsel).

. . .

We now have a trial date in this case on June 4th of 2014 and that is not coming off the calendar. You will be here, I guess, representing yourself if you don't get a new attorney between now and then, but this is a game. Yes. It's a game, Mr. Suriano, and I'm done playing it. This case is moving forward.

(73:27-29; App. 128-30).

The court then scheduled a hearing on the suppression motion. (73:29).

Mr. Suriano asked whether the court would consider appointing counsel if the SPD denied his request for another attorney. (73:30-31; App. 131-32). The court agreed to consider it and directed Mr. Suriano to get a petition from the clerk. (*Id.*). The court noted it would only appoint counsel if the SPD denied a further appointment, and for the first time, advised Mr. Suriano that the denial would need to be due to financial ineligibility. (73:30-31; App. 132-33).

On May 21, 2014, Attorney Jeff Cano of the SPD wrote to the court stating that Mr. Suriano's request for appointment of counsel had been denied. (30; App. 134). Two days later, Mr. Suriano filed a petition for a court-appointed attorney. (31; App. 135-39).

On May 27, 2014, Mr. Suriano appeared for the suppression hearing *pro se*. The court explained that it had received a call from Attorney Eric Wimberger, who indicated that Mr. Suriano arranged for his representation.⁴ (74:3; App. 141). However, Attorney Wimberger was not available

⁴ Although not entirely clear, it appears that Attorney Wimberger agreed to accept court-appointment rates, but was not retained by Mr. Suriano.

for the suppression hearing or for the June 4, 2014, trial date. (*Id.*).

The court denied Mr. Suriano's request for court-appointed counsel and denied his request to move the trial date. (74:3-4; App. 141-42). The court stated, "if you want an attorney, you are going to need to hire one yourself." (74:4; App. 142). The suppression hearing then proceeded with Mr. Suriano acting *pro se*. The court denied the suppression motion. (74:76).

By motion filed May 29, 2014, Mr. Suriano asked the court to reconsider its denial of his request for court-appointed counsel. (34; App. 144). He argued that he had found an attorney willing to represent him, and that the court's refusal to accommodate new representation violated his right to counsel. (*Id.*).

At a hearing held on June 2, 2014, the court denied the motion to reconsider. (75:5-6; App. 146-47). The court stated, "I'm not placing 100 percent of the blame on you, clearly you are an active participant in why those situations went haywire for lack of a better word." (75:5; App. 146).⁵ The court stated that Mr. Suriano could hire an attorney and concluded, "you've forfeited your right for Court-appointed counsel." (75:6; App. 147).

A jury trial took place two days later. Mr. Suriano appeared without counsel. The court instructed the jury that Mr. Suriano had decided to represent himself. (76:72).

During voir dire, the prosecutor stated, "Mr. Suriano is sitting there alone. He doesn't have a lawyer with him. That's

⁵ Mr. Suriano then asked the court of appeals to stay his trial, and that request was denied. (50).

his right. That's a choice that he's made." (76:56). The prosecutor then questioned one of the jurors, "are you confident that you won't ever let any potential sympathy for this poor guy sitting there without a lawyer creep into and affect your --the verdict that you might return" (76:58).

Outside the jury's presence, Mr. Suriano expressed concern about the comments on his situation. "Everybody's been using this concept that I chose not to have an attorney... . . . I didn't dismiss any attorneys. The Court dismissed them. I just can't fathom that we're telling the jury that I chose to be in the seat I'm in without an attorney." (76:90).

Trial testimony established that the Door County Sanitation Department sought a soil sample from the property where Mr. Suriano resided. When Mr. Suriano denied access to the property, the department obtained an inspection warrant. (76:123). Members of the department, accompanied by two law enforcement officers, entered the property to obtain a soil sample. (76:121).

Mr. Suriano testified that an officer came to his door and presented him with an *application* for a warrant, but not a warrant. (76:300). Mr. Suriano stated he would not consent unless he was shown a warrant. (76:301).

Over Mr. Suriano's protestations, the group proceeded to excavate a hole. As they were doing so, Mr. Suriano left his house and approached the group wearing a long coat, with his hands in his pockets. (76:206-08). Mr. Suriano testified that it was a cold day. (76:302).

Sergeant Bradley Moe testified that Mr. Suriano was walking "briskly toward him." Sgt. Moe testified that he ordered Mr. Suriano to remove his hands from his pockets, asking several times before Mr. Suriano complied. (76:208).

According to Sgt. Moe, Mr. Suriano subsequently placed his right hand back in his pocket, pulled out a camera, and stuck it in Sgt. Moe's face. (76:212). Sgt. Moe testified that he grabbed Mr. Suriano's arm and commanded him to remove his hands from his pockets. (76:214-216). Mr. Suriano tensed up and began to pull away. (76:217). Sgt. Moe forcefully pulled Mr. Suriano to the ground, and arrested him for obstructing an officer. (76:220-223).

Mr. Suriano denied rushing up to Sgt. Moe. (76:304). He also denied getting in Sgt. Moe's face. (76:309). Mr. Suriano testified that he removed his hands from his pockets after Sgt. Moe's first request. (76:304). However, he decided to remove his camera from his pocket so he could take a picture. (76:305). Mr. Suriano testified that he was simply trying to take picture. (76:309).

The jury returned a guilty verdict. Subsequently, the trial court imposed a \$100 fine and court costs (totaling \$814) and 10 days in jail for failure to pay within 60 days. (61; App. 149).⁶

On March 15, 2016, the court of appeals, District III, affirmed. *State v. Suriano*, Case No. 2015AP000959-CR, slip op (Ct. App. March 15, 2016). (App. 150-160).

This Court granted review by order dated September 13, 2016.

⁶ The judgment was subsequently stayed pending appeal. (67). Mr. Suriano filed a postconviction motion to vacate the DNA surcharge and to vacate the jail time based on Mr. Suriano's inability to pay. (82). After a hearing held on April 10, 2015, the court vacated the DNA surcharge, but kept the jail time. (83). Mr. Suriano did not appeal this ruling.

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court Erred by Ruling that Mr. Suriano Forfeited his Constitutional Right to Counsel.

A. Introduction, general legal principles, and Standard of Review.

1. Introduction.

The trial court ruled that Mr. Suriano forfeited his right to counsel after the court allowed three appointed attorneys to withdraw from his case, on their own motions, despite Mr. Suriano's protestations and repeated requests for counsel.

The court did not provide any guidance to counsel or Mr. Suriano about how the attorney-client relationship should work, and never warned Mr. Suriano of any wrongful behavior. The court did not advise Mr. Suriano that he could forfeit his right to counsel or make him aware of the difficulties and dangers of self-representation.

The court of appeals affirmed, relying on this Court's decision in *State v. Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d 721, 546 N.W.2d 406 (1996), which held that a defendant can forfeit the right to counsel through manipulative or disruptive conduct. This Court should reverse.

First, even under existing Wisconsin law, the record does not establish that Mr. Suriano forfeited his right to counsel.

Second, Wisconsin's law on this issue is incongruent with constitutional principles and inconsistent with the majority of other jurisdictions that have addressed it. Specifically, other jurisdictions have held that before finding that a defendant has lost the right to counsel through

disruptive or dilatory conduct, the trial court must warn the defendant of the risk of losing the right to counsel and advise the defendant of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation.

Third, there may be extraordinary circumstances under which a lack of warning may be excused—such as a physical assault on defense counsel—but such circumstances are not present here.

As such, Mr. Suriano asks this Court to implement an in-court procedure for trial courts to follow prior to finding that a defendant has forfeited the right to counsel through disruptive or dilatory conduct, which must include notifying the defendant of wrongful behavior, warning the defendant of the risk of losing the right to counsel, and advising the defendant of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation.

2. Standard of Review.

The right to counsel is a clear and critical component of both the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution.⁷

Whether a defendant has been wrongfully deprived of the right to counsel is a question of constitutional fact. *Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d. at 748. A question of constitutional fact presents a mixed question of fact and law reviewed with a two-step process. *State v. Hajicek*, 2001 WI 3, ¶15, 240 Wis. 2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781. This Court reviews the circuit

⁷ "The scope, extent, and, thus, interpretation of the right to the assistance of counsel is identical under the Wisconsin Constitution and the United States Constitution." *State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 202-03, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997).

court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard, but reviews the circuit court's determination of constitutional fact de novo. *Id.*

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