# In The Supreme Court of Wiskinsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

JACK M. SURIANO, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER.

On Appeal from the Door County Circuit Court, The Honorable Todd Ehlers, Presiding, Case No. 2013CM249

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

DANIEL P. LENNINGTON Deputy Solicitor General

KEVIN M. LEROY Deputy Solicitor General Counsel of Record

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 leroykm@doj.state.wi.us (608) 267-2221

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Suriano forfeited his right to counsel in the circuit court through his repeated misconduct related to his counsel.

A. Criminal defendants are guaranteed the right to assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. That right, however, is not unlimited. In State v. Cummings, this Court held that the right to counsel is subject to the forfeiture doctrine and described the contours of that doctrine as follows: "the triggering event for forfeiture is when the court becomes convinced that the orderly and efficient progression of the case is being frustrated," 199 Wis. 2d at 753 n.15 (citations omitted), by "the defendant's voluntary and deliberate choice[s]," id. at 752. No warning is required before the circuit court can hold that forfeiture has occurred. *Id.* at 753 n.15. The *Cummings* test is consistent with the test used by courts across the country for forfeiture of counsel. See generally 3 Wayne R. LaFave et al., Criminal Procedure § 11.3(c) (4th ed. 2015); Tennessee v. Carruthers, 35 S.W.3d 516, 549 (Tenn. 2000); *Maine v. Nisbet*, 134 A.3d 840, 853 (Me. 2016); Minnesota v. Jones, 772 N.W.2d 496, 505-06 (Minn. 2009).

B. Applying the *Cummings* test here, the circuit court was correct to conclude that Suriano forfeited his right to counsel.

Suriano was represented by three separate public defenders, each of whom withdrew at least in part due to Suriano's poor behavior. *See Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d at 750, 752. Suriano deliberately and unreasonably delayed court proceedings with his misconduct. *See id.* at 750. And Suriano was

given multiple warnings from the circuit court about his upcoming trial dates and the need to retain counsel. *See id.* at 757. This evidence strongly supports the circuit court's conclusion that Suriano's misconduct frustrated the efficient progression of trial proceedings.

C. Suriano's arguments to the contrary are unavailing.

First, he argues that the circuit court must find that the defendant, by his obstructionist actions, *intends* to cause a delay in trial. Yet this has never been the test for forfeiture. Even if it were, it is met here: The court of appeals rightly stated that the circuit court "implicitly concluded Suriano was *intentionally* disrupting the progression of the case." App. 159, ¶ 21 (emphasis added). That is plainly sufficient to show an intent to delay.

Second, Suriano argues that forfeiture was inappropriate because the circuit court exercised its discretion in granting his attorneys' motions to withdraw, and thus the court itself was responsible for any delay. Motions to withdraw are granted in the discretion of the circuit court and are appropriately granted when the attorney-client relationship has irreconcilably broken down. *Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d at 748–49. Since the attorney-client relationships here were destroyed by Suriano's own misconduct, it is wholly appropriate to fault him with the delay due to the court's granting of the motions to withdraw.

Third, Suriano argues that the circuit court failed to justify its forfeiture holding with sufficient facts. But there was ample ground to support the court's holding that Suriano's repeated misconduct frustrated the efficient progression of the circuit court, forfeiting the right to counsel.

II. Suriano also argues that this Court should require a four-step procedure, including a warning requirement, before a circuit court can hold that the right to counsel has been forfeited. However, there is no blanket constitutional requirement that courts must follow a specific procedure when considering whether a constitutional right has been forfeited. See Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 343 (1970). Moreover, courts across the country apply the forfeiture-of-counsel doctrine without requiring a warning beforehand. This is justified by the narrowness of the doctrine itself and the obvious and pervasive wrongness of the defendant's misconduct. See Cummings, 199 Wis. 2d at 752, 756. Under the extreme circumstances of this case, this Court's precedent plainly supports the conclusion that Suriano forfeited his right to counsel.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether an individual was denied his constitutional right to counsel is a "question of constitutional fact" reviewed "independently as a question of law." *Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d at 748. The circuit court's conclusions of historical fact are reviewed for clear error, a deferential standard of review. *See State v. Martwick*, 2000 WI 5, ¶ 18, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552. A fact is clearly erroneous if it is "contrary to the

great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence," id. ¶ 18 n.8 (citation omitted); additionally, "[t]he initial determination of historical [] fact is no more important than the ultimate determination of constitutional fact," id. ¶ 23.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Suriano Forfeited His Right To Counsel

- A. Criminal Defendants Can Forfeit Their Right To Counsel Through Their Own Misconduct
- 1. A criminal defendant's right to the assistance of counsel is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 339–40, 345 (1963), and Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution, *Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d at 748. "The scope, extent, and, thus, interpretation of the right to the assistance of counsel is identical under the Wisconsin Constitution and the United States Constitution." *State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 202–03, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997).

The right to counsel is not unlimited. For example, a defendant with court-appointed counsel does not have the right to the counsel of his choice, unlike a defendant paying for his own counsel. See Rahhal v. State, 52 Wis. 2d 144, 147, 187 N.W.2d 800 (1971); see also Keller v. State, 75 Wis. 2d 502, 511, 249 N.W.2d 773 (1977). Additionally, a defendant may not substitute counsel when the trial is imminent, which preserves the scarce time of the court and trial participants. See Cullen v. State, 26 Wis. 2d 652, 658, 133 N.W.2d 284 (1965).

2. The forfeiture doctrine, under which a defendant loses his right to counsel through his own misconduct, involves one such limitation on the right to counsel.<sup>2</sup> This Court defined the contours of the forfeiture doctrine in *Cummings*: "the triggering event for forfeiture is when the court becomes convinced that the orderly and efficient progression of the case is being frustrated," 199 Wis. 2d at 753 n.15 (citations omitted), by "the defendant's voluntary and deliberate choice[s]," id. at 752. The doctrine "most often involv[es] a manipulative or disruptive defendant" and "permit[s] a court to find that the defendant's voluntary and deliberate choice to proceed pro se has occurred by operation of law." *Id.* That is, the defendant "has deemed by his own actions that the case proceed" without counsel representing him. Id. (quoting State v. Woods, 144 Wis. 2d 710, 715–16, 424 N.W.2d 730 (Ct. App. 1988)).

Cummings does not require circuit courts to give "a warning" to a defendant in danger of forfeiture "before forfeiture can occur." *Id.* at 753 n.15. It does, however, "recommend" that circuit courts go through a four-part procedure with "recalcitrant defendant[s]" in danger of forfeiting their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The forfeiture doctrine is distinct from the doctrine of waiver. *See United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 733–34 (1993). "[W]aiver is the intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right," "[w]hereas forfeiture is the failure to make the timely assertion of a right." *See id.* at 733. This Court and courts across the country have consistently applied the forfeiture doctrine to the right to counsel, recognizing that a defendant may involuntarily lose that right through his own misconduct. *See infra* pp. 18–22.

right to counsel before holding that forfeiture has taken place. *Id.* at 756 n.18; *see infra* p. 29–31 (State's discussion of the content of the recommended procedure and why it need not be mandatory).

Applying these rules to the case before it, this Court in Cummings affirmed the circuit court's decision that the defendant forfeited his right to counsel. 199 Wis. 2d at 756. There, the defendant was unsatisfied with three separate court-appointed attorneys. Id. at 752. The defendant also filed multiple meritless letters with the circuit court, causing the court to conclude that "[the defendant] has his own agenda . . . and it's not consistent with his own legal interests." Id. at 751. Finally, the circuit court gave the defendant one last chance to contact the public defender's office to request an attorney, id. at 757, but "nothing in the record [] show[ed] that [the defendant] ever approached" the office, id. at 758.3 Due to this pervasive "manipulative and disruptive" behavior "based solely upon a desire to delay," id. at 753, this Court concluded that the defendant was frustrating the orderly and efficient progression of the case. Therefore, the defendant "forfeited his Sixth Amendment right to counsel." *Id.* at 759.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This Court also identified the danger of counsel representing the defendant if his behavior continued. *Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d at 754 n.16. "[A]cquiescence to [the defendant's] tactics by an attorney could possibly result in the attorney breaching his or her ethical obligations to the court." *Id*.

Three justices dissented in *Cummings* and would have required the following rule in every forfeiture-of-counsel case: "(1) explicit warnings [from the circuit court] that, if the defendant persists in 'X' [specific conduct], the court will find that the right to counsel has been forfeited and will require the defendant to proceed to trial pro se; (2) a colloquy indicating that the defendant has been made aware of the difficulties and dangers inherent in self-representation; (3) a clear ruling when the court deems the right to counsel to have been forfeited; (4) factual findings to support the court's ruling; and (5) appointment of standby counsel." *Id.* at 764 (Geske, J., dissenting) (second brackets in original).

3. The *Cummings* test for forfeiture of counsel—"forfeiture" occurs "when the [circuit] court becomes convinced that the orderly and efficient progression of the case is being frustrated" by "the defendant's voluntary and deliberate choice[s]," *id.* at 752, 753 n.15 (citations omitted)—is consistent with the tests used by courts across the country. Similarly, this Court's refusal to require "a warning" before forfeiture can be applied, *id.* at 753 n.15, is echoed across the country. As the LaFave treatise on criminal procedure helpfully summarizes: "[C]ourts have held . . . that the state's interest in maintaining an orderly trial schedule and the defendant's negligence, indifference, or possibly purposeful delaying tactic[s] combined [] justify a forfeiture [i.e., a loss of the right without intentional abandonment] of defendant's

right to counsel . . . . " LaFave, *supra*, § 11.3(c). Three cases from three state high courts are particularly instructive.

Most recently, in *Maine v. Nisbet*, the Supreme Judicial Court of Maine held that "[f]orfeiture occurs when the defendant engages in 'serious misconduct' that abuses the right to counsel." 134 A.3d at 853. The court explained its test this way: "a defendant may be deemed to forfeit [the right to counsel] only in circumstances where, in the context of that defendant's relationship with counsel, he has engaged in extremely serious misconduct that directly undermines the integrity and effectiveness of that right or frustrates the judicial process in a substantial way." Id. at 854. The court applied the doctrine where the defendant (1) had an "ongoing unwillingness to cooperate with counsel," (2) the court made "considerable efforts to fulfill his right to counsel through [] successive appointment[s]," (3) the defendant "focus[ed] on groundless issues" in the case, (4) the defendant "caus[ed] substantial and unacceptable delays of trial," and (5) the defendant had an "evident motivation to continue to engage in conduct that would delay the trial indefinitely." Id. at 856. The court explained that "forfeiture of the right to counsel is not predicated on a knowing intention to relinquish [the right]." *Id.* at 853 (emphasis added).

Similarly, in *Minnesota v. Jones*, the Supreme Court of Minnesota held that "a defendant who engages in extremely dilatory conduct may be said to have forfeited his right to

counsel." 772 N.W.2d at 505 (citation omitted). "The rationale behind applying the forfeiture doctrine is that courts must be able to preserve their ability to conduct trials." *Id.* The court applied the doctrine where a defendant (1) "engaged in conduct that was extremely dilatory," (2) "appeared for court without counsel on eight separate occasions," (3) was repeatedly "told to retain counsel," (4) "repeatedly told the district court that he was planning on retaining private counsel," and (5) "was granted three continuances solely for the purpose of giving him time" to appoint counsel. *Id.* at 506. The court explicitly stated that "[f]orfeiture does not require the court to conduct a waiver colloquy with the defendant." *Id.* at 505.

And in *Tennessee v. Carruthers*, the Supreme Court of Tennessee held that "[a] criminal defendant may implicitly waive or forfeit the right to counsel by utilizing that right to manipulate, delay, or disrupt trial proceedings." 35 S.W.3d at 549. "[F]orfeiture is appropriate even though the defendant was not warned of the potential consequences of his or her actions or the risks associated with self-representation." *Id.* at 548; *see also id.* at 550. The court applied the forfeiture doctrine to a defendant who (1) "repeatedly and unreasonably demanded that his appointed counsel withdraw and that new counsel be appointed," demands that "escalated as his scheduled trial dates drew near," (2) engaged in "conduct [that was] degenerated" and made "outrageous allegations and threats" "with each new set of attorneys," and (3) "sabotaged his relationship with each successive attorney with the obvious goal

of delaying and disrupting the orderly trial of the case." *Id.* at 550. The court explained that "forfeiture is appropriate even though the defendant was not warned of the potential consequences of his or her actions or the risks associated with self-representation." *Id.* at 548.

The overwhelming majority of courts around the country to have considered this issue have adopted the same general approach. See, e.g., Fischetti v. Johnson, 384 F.3d 140, 146 (3d Cir. 2004) ("[T]here are occasions when a defendant can be forced to go to trial without an attorney . . . . We apply this rule of forfeiture not to punish defendants but to preserve the ability of courts to conduct trials." (citation omitted)); Gilchrist v. O'Keefe, 260 F.3d 87, 97 (2d Cir. 2001) (Sotomayor, J.) ("[E]ven absent a warning, a defendant may be found to have forfeited certain trial-related constitutional rights . . . . [T]here is no Supreme Court holding . . . that an indigent defendant may not forfeit . . . his right to counsel through misconduct . . . . "); Pennsylvania v. Lucarelli, 971 A.2d 1173, 1179 (Penn. 2009) ("forfeiture . . . does not require that the defendant intend to relinquish a right" and "colloquy requirements do not apply"); Utah v. Pedockie, 137 P.3d 716, 722 (Utah 2006) ("forfeiture results ... regardless of the defendant's knowledge thereof and irrespective of whether the defendant intended to relinquish the right" (citation omitted)); Siniard v. Alabama, 491 So. 2d 1062, 1064 & n.1 (Ala. Crim. App. 1986) ("[T]he appellant offered no justification for his delay in

hiring an attorney except for his own neglect... We hold that the appellant ... forfeited [] his right to counsel.").

## B. The Circuit Court Properly Concluded That Suriano Forfeited His Right To Counsel By His Repeated Misconduct

A defendant has forfeited his right to counsel when "the court becomes convinced that the orderly and efficient progression of the case is being frustrated" by "the defendant's voluntary and deliberate choice[s]." *Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d at 752, 753 n.15 (citations omitted). The circuit court correctly held that Suriano forfeited his right to an attorney when his own poor conduct frustrated the efficient progression of the circuit court proceedings.

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